
   

 
Notice of a public 
 

Decision Session - Executive Member for Housing and Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

 
To: Councillors Craghill (Executive Member) 

 
Date: Thursday, 17 December 2020 

 
Time: 11.30 am 

 
Venue: Remote Meeting 

 
AGENDA 

 

Notice to Members – Post Decision Calling In: 
  
Members are reminded that, should they wish to call in any item* on 
this agenda, notice must be given to Democracy Support Group by 
5:00 pm on Monday, 21 December 2020. 
  
*With the exception of matters that have been the subject of a 
previous call in, require Full Council approval or are urgent which are 
not subject to the call-in provisions. Any called in items will be 
considered by the Customer and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 

 

Written representations in respect of items on this agenda should 
be submitted to Democratic Services by 5.00pm on Tuesday 15 
December 2020. 

 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare: 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests  

 any prejudicial interests or  

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 



 

 
2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 15 

September 2020. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may speak 
on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the committee. 
 
Please note that our registration deadlines have changed to 
2 working days before the meeting, in order to facilitate the 
management of public participation at remote meetings.  The 
deadline for registering at this meeting is 5:00pm on Tuesday, 
15 December 2020. 
 
To register to speak please visit 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill out an online 
registration form.  If you have any questions about the 
registration form or the meeting, please contact the relevant 
Democracy Officer, on the details at the foot of the agenda. 
 
Webcasting of Remote Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this remote 
public meeting will be webcast including any registered public 
speakers who have given their permission. The remote public 
meeting can be viewed live and on demand at 
www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 
During coronavirus, we've made some changes to how we're 
running council meetings. See our coronavirus updates 
(www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy) for more information on 
meetings and decisions. 
 

4. Protest Vigil at BPAS Clinic Wenlock 
Terrace, York   

(Pages 5 - 10) 

 The Executive Member will consider a report on the appropriate 
course of action in response to a petition calling for safe zones to 
protect services users and residents from harassment outside 
abortion clinics in York.   
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy


 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officer 
 
Name – Michelle Bennett 
Telephone – 01904 551573 
E-mail – michelle.bennett@york.gov.uk 
 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officers responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 

 
 

mailto:michelle.bennett@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Decision Session - Executive Member for 
Housing and Safer Neighbourhoods 

Date 15 September 2020 

Present Councillor Craghill (Executive Member) 

  

 

35. Declarations of Interest  
 

The Executive Member was asked to declare, at this point in the meeting, 
any personal interests not included on the Register of Interests or any 
prejudicial or discloseable pecuniary interest that they might have in 
respect of the business on the agenda.  None were declared. 

 
 
36. Minutes  
 

Resolved: That the Minutes of the previous Decision Session - Executive 
Member for Housing and Safer Neighbourhoods, held on 30 
June 2020, be approved and then signed by the Executive 
Member at a later date. 

 
37. Public Participation  
 

It was reported there was one registration to speak under Public 
Participation. Cllr Pavlovic, Ward Member for Hull Road, spoke on agenda 
item 4. He noted that the targeted relief was a considerable relief to 
residents. He highlighted the impact of COVID on residents facing financial 
difficulties. He asked for a number of points of clarification in relation to how 
many residents were eligible for the support package. He also asked if the 
council directly approached tenants before they fell into possible rent 
arrears. 
 
The Executive Member thanked Cllr Pavlovic for his comments.  

 
 
38. Targeted financial support for people living in Council 
homes  
 

The Executive Member considered a report that outlined the Councils 
approach to financial hardship for people who live in council homes during 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



the COVID-19 pandemic and recovery period. The report detailed a 
proposal for creation of a targeted hardship fund.   
 
The Head of Housing detailed the support available to council tenants and 
noted that this had been in place during the COVID-19 outbreak in the form 
of welfare calls of which 68% of the 7200 council tenants had been 
contacted by council staff. He added that the data for this period was being 
analysed. An update was given on the current position and it was noted 
that there had been an increase of 400 families in rent arrears (2593 in 
arrears as at 22 March 2020 and 2960 as at 13 September 2020) and 
within that period a decrease in the amount owed in arrears with a modest 
decrease in arrears over the last month. 
 
The work undertaken by officers to support and advise tenants on benefits 
available to them was highlighted. The Executive Member welcomed the 
work being undertaken and support being offered to people living in council 
homes. In response to a question from her concerning the MHCLG, the 
Head of Housing confirmed that the implementation of a Housing Hardship 
Fund as set out in Annex A did not require approval from MHCLG. 
 
Resolved:   
 

i. That the support currently available to people who live in council 
homes from the Housing Service be noted.  
 

ii. That the implementation of a Housing Hardship Fund as set out in 
Annex A be approved. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that further targeted support for people who live in 

council homes can be offered during the Covid recovery period 
whilst also ensuring appropriate financial controls are in place. 

 
39. Homeless Review 2019-20  
 

The Executive Member considered a report that provided an 
overview of the previous year’s operation and performance against targets 
within homeless services within the context of the Homeless Strategy 2018-
2023 as well as targets for the current financial year. 
 
The Service Manager, Housing Options and Support gave an overview of 
the report. The Executive Member welcomed the work that had been 
undertaken to reduce homelessness and she noted the challenges to come 
post COVID-19. 

 

Page 2



Resolved:  

i. That the progress made by the service be noted.  

ii. That the priorities and targets for 2020/21 as set out in 
paragraph 31 of the report be agreed. 

Reason:  To ensure the council continues to adhere to its statutory duties 
under the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) and the Homeless 
Reduction Act 2017, to reduce rough sleeping in the city and 
supports the most vulnerable in society.  

 
 

 
 

Cllr Craghill, Chair 
[The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 10.25 am]. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 

   

 
Decision Session for Housing & Safer 
Communities 
 

17th December 2020 

Report of the Interim Director of Place 
 

 
PROTEST VIGIL AT BPAS CLINIC WENLOCK TERRACE, YORK 
 
Summary 

 
1. This report sets out the detail of a recent vigil by anti-abortion protestors 

in the vicinity of the British Pregnancy Advisory Service Clinic at Wenlock 
Terrace and responds to a petition by residents calling for the Council to 
take action against future demonstrations. The petition has been signed 
by 2363 people and calls for City of York Council to create Safe Zones to 
protect service users and residents from harassment outside abortion 
clinics in York. 

  
Recommendations 
 

2. The Executive Member for Housing and Safer Neighbourhoods is asked 
to consider the following actions in response to the petition: 

 
a) For City of York Council to commit to engage closely with BPAS to 

support their service delivery in York. 
 

b) Through engaging with BPAS to enable clinic users to report their 
experience of any future protests via BPAS and with anonymity. 

 
c) To consider other ways that those effected can report their 

experience of any future protests in the vicinity of clinics, such as an 
online reporting form or contact point as other councils have used. 

 
d) For City of York Council to work closely with North Yorkshire Police 

to monitor protest activity taking place in the vicinity of the clinic and 
to gather evidence that will support future enforcement action 
through the use of Community Protection Notice and/or a Public 
Space Protection Order as appropriate. 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

 
  
Background 
 
3. In October 2020, a series of anti-abortion protest vigils took place outside 

the British Pregnancy Advisory Service Clinic on Wenlock Terrace.  This 
was part of a nationwide anti-abortion protest with several vigils having 
been reported in other cities and towns across England. 
 

4. Organisers of the vigil stated that ’40 Days for Life’ was a peaceful, 
socially distanced prayer campaign being staged outside the clinic.  
However, residents in the Wenlock Terrace area and other York 
residents were concerned by the protests which they saw as intimidating. 
As a result, leaflets were distributed in the area and a petition of some 
2,363 signatures was presented to City of York Council calling for City of 
York Council to create a safe zone around the clinic.  

 
5. Throughout the 40 days of protest, regular visits were made by North 

Yorkshire Police in the light of heightened community interest to observe 
the behaviour of those taking part in the vigil.  No criminal offences were 
committed and the protesters remained in silent vigil throughout the 
period of the protest. The vigil took place daily between 8am and 8pm. 

 
6. The clinic has been closed since 23rd March due to COVID and remains 

closed.  Treatment is being made available using online and phone 
consultations and using the service of other BPAS clinics outside York. 

 
Consultation  
 

7. The Head of Community Safety undertook consultation to assess the 
impact of the protest on the local community the police and BPAS. 
Feedback has also been received from local ward councillors and local 
residents. This will be extended to take into consideration the views of 
the users of the GP surgery in which the clinic is based. It is clear that 
although these protests have been silent and not actively aggressive 
they have been a matter of concern for a significant number of York 
residents. 

 
8. BPAS are keen to work with the City of York Council to share their 

experience of working with other local authorities where similar protests 
have impacted negatively on the local community. 

 
 

Page 6



 

Analysis 
 

9. The London Borough of Ealing became the first local authority to 
introduce a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) around an abortion 
clinic after overcoming legal challenge by religious activists who claimed 
the ban interfered with their right to freedom of expression.  In August 
2019 the Court of Appeal upheld the PSPO and in March 2020 the 
Supreme Court refused leave to appeal.  It has since been appealed to 
the European Court of Human Rights which remains outstanding. 
Manchester is in the process of creating a ‘buffer zone’ using PSPO to 
ban anti-abortion protests outside a clinic in Fallowfield. 
 

10. PSPOs are contained in the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014, and can be used to prohibit specified activities and/or require 
certain things to be done by people engaged in particular activities within 
a defined restricted area in order to prevent or reduce any detrimental 
effect caused by those activities to local people. They allow Local 
Authorities to deal with existing and future problems.  PSPOs are council 
led and focus on an identified problem in a specific location. A PSPO can 
apply to specified individuals / those within a category, specified times / 
all times, specified circumstances / all circumstances.  In order to 
designate a restricted area a PSPO, the local authority must publicly 
consult with the community and key stakeholders including the Police 
and Police and Crime Commissioner, Public Health and the CCG.  They 
must also demonstrate sufficient evidence that the behaviour the order is 
aiming to address is causing a detrimental impact on the community in 
that area, and that the PSPO prohibition(s) will prevent / reduce the risk 
of that behaviour continuing, occurring or recurring in the restricted area.  
All the terms of a PSPO must be proportionate to the behaviour. This 
must be evidenced by reports of criminal or anti-social behaviour causing 
alarm, harm or distress to the community or a section of that community. 
Once sufficient evidence is identified, the local authority must carry out a 
three week period of consultation with residents and stakeholders which 
must substantiate the need for an order to be granted. There must also 
be a consideration of necessity. 

 
11. Both Ealing and Manchester took this course of action as a result of 

experiencing significant numbers of protestors outside clinics for a 
number of years.  These protests have included continuous intimidation 
and harassment of the staff and patients working at and attending the 
clinics.  Protestors have been vocal, shouting ‘murderer’ and have also 
committed offences of graffiti and flyposting in the area with anti-abortion 
messages.  Manchester are expecting the PSPO to be challenged on the 

Page 7



 

grounds of interfering with freedom of expression and the right to 
peacefully protest [the 6 week deadline for the legal challenge to the 
PSPO should have passed around 20th Nov. The outcome is not yet 
known. If City of York Council were to pursue an application for PSPO 
without a substantial body of evidence this could be subject to a legal 
challenge and undermine the strong case law precedents that have now 
been built up in relation to this issue. This body of evidence would need 
to show protestors behaving in a way which has caused alarm, harm and 
distress. The affected persons must have links to the locality which 
includes residents, as well as those who visit or work in the locality. The 
City of York Council will continue to liaise with the clinic and BPAS and 
will consider the use of a PSPO in future if sufficient evidence supports it. 
In line with other PSPOs, this consultation would be conducted via an 
online survey available through the City of York Council website. 

 
12. The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 also gives the 

local authority the power to issue a Community Protection Notice (CPN) 
aimed at preventing unreasonable behaviour that is having a detrimental 
effect, of a persistent or continuing nature, on the quality of life of those 
in the locality.  CPNs are the final element of an escalating process of 
warning those responsible of the impact of their behaviour and 
requirements to comply with the warning.  Failure to comply with the 
warnings may result in the issue of a CPN for which failure to comply is a 
criminal offence, and can be dealt with through Council enforcement 
processes, including the issuing of a FPN / prosecution. A CPN carries a 
right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.  PSPO requires a considerable 
period of evidence gathering and consultation to be applied.  CPN is a 
faster resolution allowing the whole process from warning to notice within 
a 24 hour period if necessary.  
 

13. The Council is keen to work closely with BPAS and North Yorkshire 
Police to ensure that swift action is taken to address the potential impact 
of any similar protests in the future. 

 
Council Plan 

 
14. The issue addressed within this paper falls within the Council Priority of 

Safe communities and also Good Health and Wellbeing. 
 

Implications 
 
15. All relevant implications of this report have been considered 

 

Page 8



 

Financial - The costs associated with delivering the recommendations 
can be contained within Community Safety budgets 

 
 Human Resources (HR) - None 
 One Planet Council / Equalities – These protests are targeting a 

specific group of people who have a right to access legally provided 
services without fear of intimidation. Article 11 of the Human Rights 
Act 1998 allows for peaceful protest subject to consideration of the 
rights of others. 

 Legal –Any failure to follow council policy / legislative procedure / 
guidance with any of the processes discussed above will leave the 
Council open to reputational, financial and legal risk. All PSPO / CPN 
terms must be no more than is necessary, and all must be 
reasonable, enforceable, and proportionate. Consideration must be 
had of the relevant Council enforcement policy / policies. All proposed 
terms must be considered by Legal Services for advice prior to 
consultation / issue. 

 Crime and Disorder – PSPO and CPN fall within the remit of the 
Community Safety Team as the lead service on addressing Anti-
Social Behaviour under the Anti-social behaviour Crime and Policing 
Act 2014        

 Information Technology (IT) - None 
 Property -None 
 Other 

 
Risk Management 
 

18. Taking action to support an application for a public space protection 
order without sufficient legal evidence could result in legal challenge by 
the organisers of the protests. 

 
19. Not taking action would impact on the users of the clinic by potentially 

intimidating and deterring people who have a legal right to access the 
services provided by the clinic.  It would also impact on the local 
residents by subjecting them to material in the form of banners, posters 
and flyers which may be include distressing content. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 

Jane Mowat 
Head of Community Safety 
Community Safety 
 
Co-Author’s Name 
Title 
Dept Name 
Tel No. 

Tracey Carter 
Interim Director of Place 

Report 
Approved 

tick 
Date Insert Date 

 
 

    
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
 
Legal Implications: 
Name: Rachel Antonelli 
Title:  Senior Solicitor & Interim Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 
 

Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All x 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 
Background Papers: 
 
None  
 
List of Abbreviations Used in this Report 
 
PSPO – Public Space Protection Order 
CPN – Community Protection Notice 

Page 10


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Protest Vigil at BPAS Clinic Wenlock Terrace, York

